# Supreme Court of Mississippi

TERRY F. SWIDERSKI

**APPELLANT** 

versus.

NO.2007-CA-01517

CYPRIANNA ELLEN (HORMANSKI) SWIDERSKI

**APPELLEE** 

## **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

(ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED)

Jackson M. Brown
Solicitor for Appellant
P. O. Box 57
Starkville, MS 39760-0057
662-323-4126
MS Bar

# Supreme Court of Mississippi

TERRY F. SWIDERSKI

**APPELLANT** 

v.

NO.2007-CA-01517

CYPRIANNA ELLEN (HORMANSKI) SWIDERSKI

**APPELLEE** 

### **Certificate of Interested Parties**

#### Statement of Issues.

Appellant, Terry F. Swiderski (hereinafter Terry), asks for a review of the following (C.P. 116-118, Statement of Issues):

- 1. Refusal of Terry's post "Judgment" request for findings of fact to undergird the conclusions. Stated differently, there is no separate opinion containing factual findings and the "Judgment" itself, contains either insufficient findings or no facts to support the conclusions. Moreover, the vast weight of the credible evidence support different inferences upon which to draw logical conclusions.
- 2. Child Custody. The *Albright* facts are insufficient to warrant a finding that the children's best interests would be served by granting custody to the mother. The convincing evidence supports an opposite finding and those facts are totally unaddressed by the "Judgment." In effect, the "Judgment" awarded custody to the mother's ever-changing series of babysitters while she was at work overnight and/or out- of- state. The "Judgment" breached the Party's contract for Dad to detrimentally give up his Texas practice and become "Mr. Mom."
- 3. Child Visitation. The "Judgment" mirrored the "Temporary Order" allowing "other visitation" considering the parent's work schedule which proved unworkable. The proof showed there was no "other visitation" even when the mother worked overnight or out-of-state for days. In effect, the "Judgment" awarded the Mother's babysitters the "other visitation" to the exclusion of Terry and the children's life-long surrogate grandmother.
- 4. Child Support. Not only does the award deviate from the statutory guidelines, it is unsupported by the record; it is arbitrarily speculative without a predicate. In effect, the

"Judgment," is in breach of the agreement, forces the father to get out of town/state to work, after he detrimentally gave up his one county Texas practice to become "Mr. Mom."

- 5. Equitable Division. The property division is not supported by the record and is miscalculated. Moreover, the "Judgment"'s phrase "as divided by the Court at trial" is virtually unascertainable now, even with the court reporter's transcription.
- 6. Alimony. The "Judgment" neither delineated the case law factors nor state why some form of alimony was not appropriate under the facts. The proof showed that the parties agreed that the husband would give up his one county Texas practice and follow wife to her "dream job" to become the breadwinner while father became "Mr. Mom." "The Judgment" contains no findings to analyze upon review.

#### Statement of the Case.

This domestic quarrel is centered on child custody/visitation with peripheral issues of support and equitable property division without an award of alimony.

Father, Terry F. Swiderski (hereinafter Terry), sued Mother, Cyprianna Swiderski (hereinafter Cyprianna) after she said she wanted a divorce. The lower court temporarily awarded Cyprianna custody of the three children, support, and limited Terry's visitation, unless otherwise agreed, as well as use and possession of the marital abode. (CR 18-20; R.E. 3-5 ;) Subsequently, the parties agreed to no-fault divorce reserving the remaining issues. (CR 55-56)

After a two day trial, followed by an out-of state deposition, Cyprianna was granted a "Judgment" (C.R. 79-93) awarding her permanent custody, subject to the same limited visitation as contained in the "Temporary Order," additional child support, a division of marital assets, and a

denial of any alimony to husband/father (CR 91) even though he gave up his Texas practice to follow Cyprianna to her "dream job" and become "Mr. Mom.".

Terry asked the chancellor to reconsideration or at least opine factual findings upon which to base the "Judgment" (CR 94-105) but he was denied in toto (C.R. 106). Terry appeals. (CR 106; 111-122)

### **Statement of Facts**

The "Temporary Order" (RE 3-5;CR 18-20) awarded Cyprianna temporary custody of three children (¶1), monthly child support from Terry in the sum of \$264.00 (¶3), use and possession of the marital rental abode and contents except for Terry's personal belongings and items he needed for his veterinary practice (¶5). The court allowed visitation:

- "2. [The parties] are encouraged to agree on Terry's visitation considering their respective schedules. The Court expects an agreement, but if they [can't] then Terry shall have []:
  - "a. [first and third] Weekends . . . on Friday when school is dismissed until 4:00 [on] Sunday.
  - "c. [each party] shall be liberally permitted at reasonable hours to have telephone contact with the children . . . Neither parent shall refuse to answer the phone . . . to deny the other [] contact. . . . messages . . . should be returned as soon as possible.
  - "Should a conflict arise [over reasonableness] then Terry shall have telephone access . . . on Wednesdays between 6:00 and 7:30 p.m.
  - "d. If Terry is unable to [visit], then Ellen Swiderski, Terry's mother, may exercise the visitation in his place.
- "11. Neither [shall] transfer, encumber, conceal or otherwise dispose of any marital property . . . .
- "12. All other issues are reserved . . . ."

The case came to trial in late April 2007. Uncontested facts reveal that Terry and Cyprianna met at LSU vet school. Terry graduated and went into private practice in Magnolia, MS. Cyprianna continued her veterinary studies at LSU two hours away, they married and Cyprianna kept her Baton Rouge residence. Terry secured a loan for a home with acreage. Cyprianna's name was put on the deed. Their first child, Katelyn, was born July 27, 1996. Terry's mother, Mrs. Ellen Swiderski (hereinafter Ms Ellen), age 71, and Cyprianna's father, Mr. Hormanski, age 78. (Tr. 257) helped with Katelyn while Cyprianna continued her studies and Terry worked. (Tr. 11-12) Cyprianna graduated with a PhD and moved to Magnolia and practiced with Terry. Sarah, the second child, was born on May 21, 2000 (Tr. 10). Ms Ellen began taking a more active role in the children's care. Out of state opportunities became available and Terry, Cyprianna, the two girls, and Ms. Ellen moved to Texas. Matthew, the third child, was born December 29, 2002. (Tr. 11-12). Cyprianna breast fed all three children.

A part time job opened at Mississippi State and Cyprianna took it. Terry, Ms Ellen and the three children remained in Texas. Later, Cyprianna was offered a valuable teaching position at State's Vet School. Cyprianna and Terry discussed MSU's offer and agreed: Cyprianna would take the job and become the breadwinner; Terry, would give up his local Texas practice, and with Ms Ellen's continued help, would become "Mr. Mom" (Tr. 116; 127; 205) and start a part-time practice in Starkville. Terry moved Cyprianna, Ms. Ellen and the three children into a MSU rental. Terry returned to Texas and concluded his practice and then moved to Starkville with his family. Cyprianna negotiated the purchase of some "Highway 12 property. Since Terry was just starting his part-time vet practice, the loan was made solely on Cyprianna's income.

The children started school. Terry and Cyprianna separated in June of 2006. Terry was 41

years old and Cyprianna was 44 at trial.

The case became contentious.

Cyprianna claimed her and Terry's agreement worked phenomenal for a week (Tr. 205) until he began hanging around the vet school soliciting customers.(Tr.207) Cyprianna said, for the most part, visitation was working under the "Temporary Order" and she had been a perfect mother.

On the other hand, Terry said, corroborated by Ms. Ellen and Dr. Mary Anne Busenitz,<sup>2</sup>/
the "Temporary Order" was not working. Not only had he sued Cyprianna for contempt (CR 3335) for refusing to give him his personal things and veterinary tools (Tr. 43;79) as directed by the
"Temporary Order," he complained, *inter alia*:

\*Terry primarily took care of the children with Ms Ellen's help until they were locked out of the rental.(Tr. 30; 41;42;45;48). He attended to her personal needs. All she had to do was come home, relax, eat and go to bed (Tr. 19)

\*Terry felt compelled to file for divorce after Cyprianna told him they were getting a divorce (Tr. 17; 19) when she threatened him with signing papers exactly the way she wanted or he would never see the children again (Tr. 20; 52).

\*Terry's hours were flexible having just starting a part time practice; he only worked by appointment and he did no emergency work (Tr. 48)

• Confirmed by Ms Ellen: Terry started working part-time but because there was not enough money to make both payments [rent and Hwy 12 mortgage] he had to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Ms. Ellen had been her grandchildren's live-in surrogate for about 5 years. She did the children's cooking, bathing, clothes washing, chauffeuring, grocery shopping, homework help, took them to the doctors, etc. She was ready, willing, able and desirous to continue her role. (Tr. 114;116) Mrs. Ellen was corroborated by Dr. Mary Anne Busenitz (Ct R. P. 102-244) as well as Cyprianna's E-Mail (Ct. R. P. 339-344; R.E.25-26).

start working more. (Tr. 129). Terry scheduled his out-of-town work when Cyprianna was not on clinics. (Tr. 130)

- \*Cyprianna, after forcing Ms Ellen out of the rental (Tr. 120, ) had hired at least four different full-time baby sitters in the seven months following the Temporary Order and trial. At least one of the sitters, Valerie, had been abusive to Katelyn and Matthew, and on one occasion had been too drunk/hung-over to babysit. (Tr.33)
- \*Cyprianna refused Terry and the children any "other visitation" or "telephone contact", other than the least mandated by the "Temporary Order", regardless of her long, sometimes over night work, emergencies, and symposiums that lasted for days. (Tr. 44)
  - Corroborated by Ms Ellen (Tr. 124) and Dr. Mary Anne (Tr. 173) and admitted by Cyprianna (Tr. 168)
- \*Often, Cyprianna would refuse to answer the telephone or allow the children to return messages. Sometimes, Cyprianna would turn her phones off so she would not have to cope with any crises, some of which involved the children. (Tr.44) Sometimes she could not be located (Tr. 121).
  - ●Confirmed by Ms Ellen (Tr. 120-121)
  - Corroborated by Dr. Lee Tyner of the vet school <sup>3</sup>/(Tr. 267).
  - Corroborated by Dr. Mary Anne Busenitz (Tr. 183)
  - Corroborate by Matthew's school teacher (Tr. 5-8)
- \*Cyprianna was unstable and unreasonable having discontinued her Prozac (Tr. 19-20; 49)
- \*Cyprianna refused to produce her financial records (CR 75) but Terry produced his. (Tr.51)
- \*Cyprianna did not attend Sarah's graduation, preferring to talk with Dr. Mary Anne Businetz on the cell phone for an hour in the school parking lot. (Tr.165-166).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>MSU Vet School Administrator Lee Tyner testified that Cyprianna was one of State's most productive clinicians but occasionally he had to look for her and had called Terry trying to locate her. (Tr. 264-267),

- \*There have been times that Cyprianna failed to get Katelyn to her soccer games or attend them. (Tr. 51-52)
- \*Cyprianna had lost her temper, tackling Katelyn off the bicycle, striking her multiple times causing Katelyn to escape the beating by running and locking herself in the house. Because Cyprianna was out of control, Terry would not let Cyprianna take Katelyn fearing for her safety. (See audio tape exhibit Ct. R. P. 101)
  - Corroborated by Ms Ellen (Tr. 123) and the Tape Recording Exhibit (Ct. R. P. 101).
- \*Cyprianna became upset with Matthew and screamed at him for interrupting her while she was on the phone, shaking him so hard he dropped his milk (Tr. 26) Cyprianna spanked Matthew for refusing to tell Cyprianna that he loved her when he continually said he loved his grandma (Tr. 48)
- \* Matthew became sick at day care. The school could not reach either Cyprianna or babysitter Valerie because their phones had been turned off or would not answer. Terry was notified and Matthew was picked up. (Tr. 54-55)
  - •Corroborated by Matthew's teacher: (Tr. 5-6)
  - •Ms Ellen corroborated another occasion when Katelyn had a school accident and the school could not find Cyprianna (Tr. 120-121)
- \*Cyprianna was a Bulemic (Tr. 142)
  - •Corroborated by Cyprianna's e-mail (Ct. R. P. 340) as well as Dr. Mary Anne. (Ct R. P. 340).
- \*Terry believed that due to Cyprianna's mental problems, her sub-par coping temperament with the children, coupled with her onerous work schedule, with Ms Ellen's help, it was in the children's best interest that he be awarded custody. (Tr.
  - Confirmed by Ms Ellen (Tr. 124)
- \*Cyprianna had hired at least 4 different full time baby sitters following the "Temporary Order" and trial (Tr. 33)

Terry put Cyprianna on the stand and she was cross-examined:

√Cyprianna admitted hiring at least two different full time baby sitters following the "Temporary Order" and trial. (Tr. 211) with backups (Tr.214)

√Cyprianna admitted she had previously swore that Terry had made "serious hurtful allegations about her, none of which were remotely true; he had accused her of having a bad temper." When pressed, Cyprianna confessed sending a 3/31/06 E-Mail (RE 24-26; Ct. R. P. 243-244) saying:

New Her depression was looming which made her short tempered and intolerant of her colleagues (R.E. 25; 2<sup>nd</sup> ¶, 2<sup>nd</sup> sentence; Ct. R. P. 243).

SeCyprianna's life was intruded upon by her work (R. E. 25, 2<sup>nd</sup> ¶5<sup>th</sup> line;Ct R. P. 243)

SCyprianna feared she could not measure up and that the first proof of this comes when she couldn't keep promises. It becomes obvious that she had few friends because they, like her family, could not count on her. (R. E. 25-26, 2<sup>nd</sup> ¶, next to last line on first page and the 1<sup>st</sup> 2 lines on 2<sup>nd</sup> page; Ct. R. P. 243-244)

Securianna needed help to make it to the lake, finish a few things, and keep the greatest friendship she ever had growing. The worst thing that could happen to her would be to not make it to the lake. The 2<sup>nd</sup> worse would be to not use this opportunity to grow [their] friendship. She needed to get a few more things off her plate and then head out. She hoped Mary Anne could see she was moving a mountain of sorts - because Mary Anne was so important to her. (R. E. 26, 2<sup>nd</sup> page, 1<sup>st</sup> full ¶; Ct. R. P. 244)

She needed Mary Anne's help [] because she had been having a panic attack for the last two days and it was escalating, her job was sucking her breath out with a vengeance. She could not think clearly, her head was flooding with thoughts of not measuring up at school and as a mother, her experiments not getting done, and the things she had not completed that are way overdue which is now being seen by other s. (R. E. 25,1<sup>st</sup> ¶, Ct. R. P. 243)

•Ms Ellen had previously testified about Cyprianna's job stress (Tr. 121)

She lived a life [] kept together by a thread but that the sad part is that she didn't use the thread to run her whole life. Her mom-in-law [Ms Ellen] shops, cooks, does home work with the kids, carts Sarah to ballet, sits in the pick up line, does the laundry, feeds the pets - everything that she should do (R. E. 25, 2<sup>nd</sup> ¶, lines 9-12, Ct. R. P. 243)

Cyprianna admitted she had made herself hand written notes (Tr. 139), the day before Terry's birthday, listing her "Issues:"

Religion; NOT CALL; BEING LATE; Poor word choice -big problem for me; Same thing lets get closer give more power (Tr. 140)

•Ms Ellen confirmed Cyprianna was always late on everything (Tr. 125)

Cyprianna also wrote in another E-Mail dated 3/5/06:

№ the only thing that sings to me is the issue of control. Being a recovering bulemic I'm sure you know much about my issues with control". (R.E. 22, 2<sup>nd</sup> page, 2<sup>nd</sup> full ¶; Tr. 142; Ct. R. P. 340).

S≪Cyprianna admitted being served with a subpoena duces tecum for her to produce her financial records on March 26, 2007, but she refused to produce them. (Tr 143; CP 75)

\*Cyprianna admitted she was again served with another subpoena duces tecum for her to bring her financial records to the trial (CR 77), but again, she refused to produce them. (Tr. 143)

√Cyprianna testified she did not recall if she was served to produce her credit card statements (Tr. 149)

Securianna admitted she previously had sworn she had told the marriage counselor, Dr. Anna Dunn, and Terry, that she was angry with Terry and hated him for allowing her to take the MSU position, as well as swearing that during a counseling session, Dr. Dunn told Terry that it was very cruel for him to tell Cyprianna that Dr. Mary Anne Businetz was the cause of the divorce and to demand that Cyprianna discontinue the friendship. (Tr.

√Cyprianna admitted that in discovery, she listed Dr. Dunn, a licensed psychiatrist, as an expert on her case, who would render an opinion regarding Terry's abuse.

√Cyprianna admitted that after listing Dr. Dunn as her expert, she was notified that Dr. Dunn's deposition would be taken by Terry and that she and her attorney appeared and participated. (Tr. 145; 146)

Cyprianna was pressed about Dr. Dunn's deposition testimony and the events that occurred::

See Cyprianna admitted that Dr. Dunn had testified she never told Terry that it was very cruel for him to tell Cyprianna that Dr. Mary Anne was the cause of the divorce and demand that Cyprianna end the friendship. She further admitted, in fact, that her attorney asked the same question several times and Dr. Dunn again denied making such a statement (Tr. 145).

SCyprianna admitted that during Dr. Dunn's deposition, her attorney asked Dr. Dunn questions about Cyprianna but Dr. Dunn refused to answer because Cyprianna had not given her a release. (Tr. 145-146)

See Cyprianna admitted that after Dr. Dunn refused to answer her attorney's questions about her since she had not given a release, and then, she and her attorney took a short recess but even after the deposition resumed, Cyprianna still would not give Dr. Dunn the release, on the advice of her counsel (Tr. 146)

Scyprianna was asked why she didn't have Dr. Dunn present to testify in her behalf, even though she had listed the doctor as her expert to testify as to Terry's abuse, her attorney stipulated that Dr. Dunn had moved. (Tr. 146-147)

№ Cyprianna admitted she had sworn in Interrogatory No. 14 that Ms Ellen only had a grade school education that limited her ability to help Katelyn with homework since that was what her understanding was at the time she answered. (Tr. 147-148)

• Ms Ellen had testified earlier she had in fact graduated from high school (Tr. 113). Moreover, Cyprianna's E-Mail conclusively shows what Ms Ellen did in attending to the children (R.E. 15, 2<sup>nd</sup> ¶)

Cyprianna confessed she had been on Prozac at least 6 times since 1988. (Tr. 148)

Securianna admitted she had asked Terry for the divorce on his birthday but that she had previously sworn in discovery that Terry had sued her out of the blue. Her explanation: she didn't expect Terry to sue her. (Tr. 148-149)

≫Cyprianna recalled the Katelyn "bicycle incident," but in opposition to Terry's and Ms Ellen's testimony, (Tr. 123), she denied tacking Katelyn off the bike and striking her in the back. (Tr. 149-150)

See Cyprianna corroborated Terry and Ms Ellen that after the bicycle incident, being upset, she called her attorney's office and was instructed to leave. Her explanation: Terry would not get out of her car. (Tr. 150)

Securianna admitted that part of her MSU duties required her to give 15 annual didactic lectures which required intensive and extensive preparation. (Tr. 150)

Securianna admitted that on 4/16/06, she had spent the night with Mary Anne at the Best Western rather than staying with her children(Tr. 150-151)

SCyprianna admitted arriving home at 10:45 p.m. on 4-30-06, because she had taken off work, driving to Tuscaloosa to eat with Mary Anne. (Tr. 151-152)

SCyprianna denied returning home at 5:30 a.m. on 5/2/06 but admitted that she had clinic and emergency duty from 4/24 - 5/7/06 and that on certain days she could not go home to be with the children (Tr. 152)

•Corroborated by Ms Ellen that she was able to come home and eat. A lot of times she be in by 8:00, sometimes 9:00 and sometimes later. If she had clinic you wouldn't know when she would come in. (Tr. 117)

% In Admission Request No. 8, Cyprianna was asked to admit that on 5/4/06 she got home at 1:00 a.m. and she responded that on certain days she could not go home to be with the children (Tr. 152-153)

% After quibbling, Cyprianna finally admitted she traveled to Alabama to visit Mary Anne on 5/10/06 (Tr. 153)

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