2007-CA-01517



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

TERRY F. SWIDERSKI

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CASE NO. 2007-CA-01517

CYPRIANNA ELLEN (HORMANSKI) SWIDERSKI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

In accordance with rule 28(a) of the Mississippi Supreme Court Rules, the undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case:

These representations are made in order that the justices of this court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

- 1. Terry F. Swiderski, Appellant
- 2. Jackson M. Brown, Attorney for Appellant, Terry F. Swiderski
- 3. Cyprianna Ellen (Hormanski) Swiderski, Appellee

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Appellant, Dr. Terry F. Swiderski, asserts that the Chancellor erred in the award of the custody of the minor children to the Appellee, Dr. Cyprianna Ellen (Hormanski) Swiderski, the award of child support, visitation, the division of the marital estate and the denial of alimony. He supports his argument by ignoring contradictory objective evidence, the bulk of the testimony at trial and relies solely on un-supported allegations made by himself and a discredited witness. Conversely, the Appellee contends that the Chancellor made the correct ruling and that there is ample support for his ruling when the whole record is viewed, not just items "cherry picked" by the Appellant. The Chancellor's judgment when read in conjunction with the record is clearly sufficient to support those findings by the Chancellor and his application of the law.

In further support of his argument, the Appellant complains that the Chancellor's written judgment is insufficient, however, again, that judgment is only insufficient if you disagree with the Chancellor's conclusions and findings of fact. What the Appellant is really complaining of is that the Chancellor, who is in the best position to judge, found Dr. Terry Swiderski's testimony, as well as that of his supporting witness' testimony, to not be credible and, therefore, did not support the Appellant's case.

ARGUMENT

In December of 2006, the parties executed a Consent to Entry of Divorce on Ground of Irreconcilable Differences, the terms and provisions of which notified the Court of that agreement and said Consent set forth the following issues to be submitted to the Court for decision:

- 1. Child custody, child support and visitation;
- 2. Division of the marital estate, including assets and liabilities, real and personal property;
- 3. Award of alimony, if any; and
- 4. Award of attorneys fees, if any.

Each of these respective issues, with the exception of attorneys fees, will be addressed in the broad categories into which they fall because these issues coincide with Terry's appeal issues.

I. Whether the Court erred in its award of custody and whether same was supported by the facts and applicable law.

The "best interest of the child" standard prevails in the determination of custody. However, the Mississippi Supreme Court has set forth a number of factors to be considered by chancellors when making custody determinations:

The age of the child is ... but one factor to be considered. Age should carry no greater weight than other factors to be considered, such as: health, and sex of the child; a determination of the parent that has had the continuity of care prior to the separation; which has the best parenting skills and which has the willingness and capacity to provide primary child care; the employment of the parent and responsibilities of that employment; physical and mental health and age of the parents; emotional ties of parent and child; moral fitness of parents; the home, school and community record of the child; the preference of the child at the age sufficient to express a preference by law; stability of home environment an

employment of each parent; and other factors relevant to the parent-child relationship.

<u>Hassett v. Hassett</u>, 690 So.2d 1140, 1148 (Miss. 1997), <u>Albright v. Albright</u>, 437 So. 2d 1003, 1005 (Miss. 1983).

These factors are not a mathematical formula and no factor should be given greater weight than the others. **Jerome v. Stroud**, 689 So. 2d 755. 760 (Miss. 1997). An analysis of the facts of this case as they apply to the **Albright** factors set forth above shows the following:

1. Age and Sex of the Children;

The children in this matter are KATELYN MAYE SWIDERSKI, born July 27, 1996, SARAH CLAIRE SWIDERSKI, born April 12, 2000 and MATTHEW ROSS SWIDERSKI, born December 27, 2002. Historically, there has been a preference in this state to grant custody to the mother of children of "tender age." **Johns v. Johns**, 57 Miss. 530 (1879). Although the doctrine has undergone a weakening process in the past few years, it has not been abandoned entirely. However, the children in the instant matter are pre-school or school age. Accordingly, the age of the children does not appear to favor either party.

2. Continuity of Care Prior to the Separation;

The children lived with both parents prior to their separation. However, it was undisputed, until the move to Starkville in late 2004, that Chipper, with the assistance of the two grandparents, was the primary caregiver. For a brief period in late 2004 and 2005, while Chipper was starting the MSU program, the primary care of the children was delegated to the children's grandmother. It is important to note, even though Terry was available, he did not supplement Chipper as a parent, his

mother did. Since the parties' separation in late 2005, Chipper has been the primary caregiver with assistance from her nanny and her father. Accordingly, this factor appears to favor Chipper.

3. Parenting Skills;

Both parents demonstrated the ability and willingness to parent the children well.

Accordingly, this factor does not favor either party.

4. Employment of the Parent and Responsibilities of That Employment;

Chipper has a regular day-time schedule with weekends and holidays off. She has occasional on call and emergency demands. Further, because her University program is off and running, she has great flexibility for emergencies or special occasions. Further, she has made adequate supplemental child care arrangements for those occasions. Alternatively, Terry has no set schedule but is routinely called out of town and stays overnight. He is dependent on his elderly mother who lives in another state for help. Accordingly, this factor clearly favors Chipper.

5. Physical and Emotional Fitness and Age of the Parents;

Despite some allegations made by Terry, it appears clear from the overwhelming weight of the evidence that both parties are physically and emotionally fit to care for the children. This factor favors neither party.

6. Emotional Ties of Parent and Children;

It was undisputed at trial that both parties love and are beloved by their children. This factor favors neither party.

7. Moral Fitness of Parents;

At trial, Terry attempted to intimate that there was something improper about some of Chipper's female friendships. There was absolutely no evidence to indicate any type of wrongdoing.

In fact, both parties appeared to be morally fit. However, it was undisputed that Chipper was responsible for the children's religious education and who saw to the children's regular church attendance. It appears that this factory slightly favors Chipper.

8. Home, School and Community Record of the Children;

It was undisputed at trial that, for the bulk of these children's lives and currently, Chipper was responsible primarily for their education, religious training, extra curricular activities and social interaction. She testified and it was unrebutted that, until 2005, Terry had rarely attended a school function, been to any of the children's activities or oversaw homework. Conversely, it was undisputed that, under Chipper's stewardship, the children were excellent students and doing well physically and emotionally. This factor markedly favors Chipper.

9. The Preference of the Children at an Age sufficient to Express a Preference by Law;

The minor children in this matter have not reached an age sufficient to express a preference of the parent with whom he prefers to reside. Miss. Code Ann. § 93-11-65 (Supp. 1997).

10. Stability of the Home Environment;

It should be noted that, while parents possess the ability to provide a stable home, Terry, who chose to live in the parties' uninhabitable fixer upper, has failed to date to demonstrate the ability to provide and maintain a proper, adequate home for young minor children. Alternatively, Chipper has been providing the family home and all its staples for the minor children since 2004. Again, this factor would appear to favor Chipper.

11. Other Factors Relevant to the Parent-Child Relationship.

At trial, it appeared that both of these parties are capable, loving parents. However, it was clear that, whenever the family was presented with a challenge or difficulty, it was incumbent upon

Chipper to resolve the problem and maintain the family good. In addition, Chipper has a stable and long term opportunity in Starkville where the children have flourished, despite the divorce, over the past three years. Accordingly, this factor appears to slightly favor Chipper.

An analysis of the Albright factors mandates that custody be awarded to Chipper.

II. Whether the Court erred in it's award of child support.

Under § 43-19-101, Mississippi law sets forth rebuttable statutory guidelines that provide that the non-custodial parent should pay 22% of his adjusted gross income for the support of three minor children. However, paragraph (4) of § 43-19-101 provides that, in cases in which the adjusted gross income exceeds \$50,000.00, the Court must make a written finding in the record as to whether or not the guidelines established in this section are reasonable.

Criteria for determining the justness or appropriateness of an award are set out in § 43-19-103, which are

- . extraordinary medical, psychological, educational or dental expenses
- . independent income of the child
- . the payment of both child support and spousal support to the obligee
- . seasonal variations in one or both parents' incomes or expenses
- . the age of the child, taking into account the greater needs of older children
- special needs that have traditionally been met within the family budget even though the fulfilling of those needs will cause the support to exceed the proposed guidelines
- the particular shared parental arrangement, such as where the noncustodial parent spends a great deal of time with the children thereby reducing the financial expenditures incurred by the custodial parent, or the refusal of the noncustodial parent to become involved in the activities of the child, or giving due consideration to the custodial parent's homemaking services
- total available assets of the obligee, obligor and the child
- any other adjustment which is needed to achieve an equitable result which may include, but not be limited to, a reasonable and necessary existing expense or debt

In addition, there is a short line of recent cases which recognize the factors listed in **Brabham v. Brabham**, 84 So. 2d 147, 153 (Miss. 1955) as applying to the determination of child

support. When those factors are used, they are employed as another method by which the court may place its findings on the record and go outside the statutory guidelines. **Dufour v. Dufour**, 631 So. 2d 192, 194 (Miss. 1994); **Bredemeier v. Jackson**, 689 So. 2d 770, 778 (Miss. 1997). The **Brabham** factors, though, are more commonly used to determine the amount of alimony, if any, to be paid and include:

- A. the health of the husband and his earning capacity;
- B. the health of the wife and her earning capacity;
- C. the entire sources of income of both parties;
- D. the reasonable needs of the wife;
- E. the reasonable needs of the child;
- F. the necessary living expenses of the husband;
- G. the estimated amount of income taxes the respective parties must pay on their incomes;
- H. the fact that the wife has the free use of the home, furnishings and automobile, and
- I. such other facts and circumstances bearing on the subject that might be shown by the evidence.

Upon a close reading of both sets of factors, it is clear that the Chancellor was essentially directed to look at the total income and assets of each of the parents, as well as the lifestyle the parties enjoyed together and will now have separately and any special needs of the children. This case is very unusual. Chipper, as a university professor, makes approximately \$84,000.00, per year, with health, retirement and life insurance benefits. However, Chipper was previously in private practice with her husband where she testified Terry was capable of making anywhere from \$150,000.00 to \$300,000.00 per year. At trial, Terry, who is self-employed, attempted to persuade the Court that he only made \$24,000.00 a year, despite gross receipts in excess of \$156,000.00 in only his second year of private practice. Even if the Court believed him, the Court could consider what Terry could or should be making. Importantly, the Court corrected observed that Terry had taxable interests of \$1,669.00, which made it likely that he had as much as \$20,000.00 in taxable

savings accounts. Accordingly, the Court awarded \$750.00, per month, for child support despite Chipper's request that she be awarded approximately \$1,500.00, per month, in child support. While at first blush her request may appear excessive, a review of Chipper's expenses for herself and the children would indicate expenses in excess of \$5,000.00. Please note that Chipper only clears approximately \$4,800.00. Based on all of the foregoing, \$750.00 would appear the least amount that Dr. Terry Swiderski should be paying and said award is amply supported by the record.

III. Whether the Court erred in it's award of visitation.

Terry was awarded what is commonly referred to as the <u>Farese</u> schedule of visitation, which has been approved and routinely upheld by the Mississippi Supreme Court. The argument Appellant is making on this issue appears to be very unclear. The undersigned can't tell if he is saying the schedule is insufficient or that there should be no schedule. Terry has submitted no legal or factual argument as to why the <u>Farese</u> schedule should be changed or overturned. In fact, the Court has awarded an additional weeknight visitation not normally contemplated by <u>Farese</u>, which makes his complaint on this issue even less understandable.

IV. Whether the Court erred in it's determination of marital assets and division of the marital estate.

UNDISPUTED PROPERTY DIVISION:

At trial, the parties agreed that all of their assets had been acquired during their substantial

marriage and, therefore, were subject to an equitable division. The parties further agreed to the division of the following specific items²:

- 1. The Magnolia property: The parties had purchased jointly land in Magnolia. They agreed that it was a marital asset and should be divided evenly. To that end, they further agreed that the property should be sold and the net proceeds evenly divided.
- 2. Certificates of Deposit: The parties had approximately \$178,000.00 in certificates of deposit. By the time of trial, the parties had evenly divided said proceeds so that each received approximately \$89,000.00. The parties testified that they were satisfied with that division.
- 3. The 2004 Chevrolet Suburban, valued at approximately \$20,175.00, should be awarded to Chipper.
- 4. The 1998 White Dodge 2500 Truck, used by Terry for his practice, valued at \$4,500.00, and the 2006 Dodge 2500 Truck, no equity. Both should be awarded to Terry.
- 5. See Exhibit "C" at page 20 of the Appellant's Record Excerpts, which are items that belong to the children and the parties agreed, at trial, said items should go the custodial parent.

5

the record.

Terry in his Brief appeared to be confused when referencing certain agreements as to property by the parties. A review of the trial transcript will show that, in response to questions by counsels and the Court, both parties agreed to certain property dispositions. To say otherwise, flies in the face of

- 6. The parties have several IRA and mutual fund accounts, titled individually and together. With the exception of the Fidelity Magellan Mutual Fund, title in Chipper's name, valued at trial at approximately \$16,607.97, the parties agreed that the funds should be divided evenly in kind. Chipper maintains that her Fidelity Magellan Mutual Fund was acquired prior to the marriage and was titled and remained solely in her name.
- 7. Family photographs. The parties agreed that the family photographs could be copied so that each party had a set with the costs of said reproduction being borne equally by the parties.

DISPUTED PROPERTY DIVISION:

The assets upon which the parties could not agree as to division were Chipper's retirement with MSU (she had no Arkansas retirement), Chipper's Fidelity Magellan Mutual Fund, the Starkville property, household goods and furnishings, horses, and various pieces of equipment. Assets acquired or accumulated during the course of a marriage are subject to equitable division unless it can be shown by proof that such assets are attributable to one of the parties' separate estates prior to the marriage or outside the marriage. See <u>Hemsley v. Hemsley</u>, 639 So. 2d 909 (Miss. 1994) and Ferguson v. Ferguson, 639 So. 2d 921 (Miss. 1994).

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